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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL {IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The first Hanes Hosiery Mlll, formerly known as Shamrock Knitting Mills, stands at
Second and Marshall streets in Winston-Salem. The one-story brick bullding with daylight
basement 1s six bays deep and extends in seven sections, along Marshall Street. The
rhythmic saw tooth roof, covering all but the 1925 addition, allots six-foot skylights to
each of the seven sections, This design dis typical of many knitting Tills constructed
in the northeastern United States during the early twentieth century.

The brickwork of the mill is laid in common bond, and all of the windows (except
those in the 1925 addition) are surmounted by segmental arches. From the ground up,
the segment of the building under each sawtooth contains a basement window, a large
central window at the knitting room level, and a small window in the gable. The brick
arches contain four courses of rowlocks at the basement level, three at the knitting
room level, and two in the uppermost windows, The large central window of each section
1s divided into four segments: two upper sections of six lights each, and two lower
gectlons of nine 1ights each.

The Shamrock Mills Building was used for knitting, packing, drying, dying, and
boarding (giving shape). The large, street-level knitting room housed the knitting
looms as well as the looping and trimming equipment. Mr. R, B, Crawford, a long-time
employee of Hanes, remembered that the looping and trimming machines were located north
of the kniltting looms, Looping machines secured the toe of the stocking and trimmers cut
the loose threads. The heels, however, were trimmed by hand. In the basement the gray-
goods (undyed hosiery) were stored, dyed, and boardeg. Fach stocking was boarded, or
given shape, by stretching It over a cardboard form.

The original office area for Shamrock Mllls was located at the northernmost end of
the sawtooth structure, and around 1925 additional office space was added to the north
end of the mill in a style suggestive of the Bauhaus school of architecture, A flat,
store-front facade which obscures two sawtooth skylights wag, probaply. added after
Carolina Cadillac acquired the building around 1926. In addition the interior was
probably ‘altered when the building became Carolina Cadillac Company; it contains a large
open area (suitable for showing a car) behind which a short Flight of steps leads to
partitioned office space. Interior floor-length round headed windows separate the office
from the open area in front of it. oo

1Richard M. Candee to Gwynne 8, Taylor, March 3, 1977.

2HAER Inventory, Brent Glass,

3Interview with Mr, R. B. Crawford, past president and chalrman of the board,
Hanes Hoslery Company, January 28, 1977.

4Interview with Mr, R. B. Crawford.

5See Architect's drawing with 1925 addition in "Tobacco to Textiles, Hanes
Corporation: How Tt All Began," Hanes Hosiery News, 1972, p. 5-6.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
The first structure built in 1911 by the present-day Hanesg ‘Hosilery empire still
stands at the corner of Marshall and Second streets in Winston-Salem. It was originally
known as Shamrock Knitting Mills; it was named Hanes Hosiery Mills Company 1n 1914. The
structure's sawtooth roof is of note in the development of industrial architecture. The
mill building recalls the early history of Yhat is now the largest manufacturer of
ladies' circular-knit hosiery in the world.

In 1872 Pleasant Henderson Hanes and his brother, John Wesley Hanes, came Lo the
city of Winston from Davie County, North Carolina. Along with Major T, J. Brown they
established P. H. Hanes & Co., tobacco manufacturers, which they sold to B. J. Reynolds
in 1900, The Hanes brothers then separately entered the textile business.

John Wesley Hanes purchased a four-story bullding in Winston formerly used by the
Hodgin and Lunn Tobacco Company. By 1902, under the name Shamrock Knitting Mills, J.
W. Hanes was manufacturing children's and men's cotton socks in the old tobaﬁco factory,
John Wesley Hanes never lived to see his company flourish; he died in 1903,

In 1911 Shamrock Knitting Mills built a pew plant next to its'old ohe'at Pine
(now Marshall) and Second streets 1in Winston. (The old Shamrock Mii;sleildiﬁg vas
bought by R. J,"Reynolds 'Tobacco Company.) The plant housed 200 knitting machines and
200 employees. Its sawtooth roof design with six-foot skylights closély geéembled
the design of the 1902-1903 White Oak Plant of Cone Cotton Mills in Greénsboro. " The
sawtooth roof construction with skylights was a popular textile_mill design in the early

1900s, especially in the industrial northeastern United States,” The architects of the
Greensborg White Oak Plant were from the Providence, Rhode Island, firm of C, R. Makepeace
and Sons, The architect for the Hanes mill is not known.

Sawtooth roof construction, such as that in Shamrock Mills, became especially
popular in the nineteenth century and was also known as 'morth lighting.'" The skylights
faced gorth so as to achieve the greatest benefit of the sun's rays while avoiding their
glare. This type of roof construction was used for weave sheds (knitting rooms) 1n
England as early as 1854. The one-story weave shed was seen in the United States by the
mid-1880s and was probably inspired by the widespread introduction of large, high-speed,
automatic looms. The vibration and impact of these large machines was more than the
earlder framed mill buildings could withstand, and the one-story weave shed built on
grade was better able to accomodate the machinery. Since these one-story weave rooms wWere
sprawling, the need for skylights was app?ﬁent; many of the looms were situated beyond
the reach of light from the wall windous,

Skylights were not, however, the panacea they appeared to be. The windows were
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hard to keep watertight and clean.11 According to a former employee of Hanes Hoslery,
the skylights at Shamyrock lls were never watertight and the leaking water posed a
threat to the looms below, In addition, as artificial lighting became more efficient,
the skylights became even less practical. Artificial light had a constant quality not
found in north lighting, and there was no heat loss or gain as there was through the

glass skylights.

Shamrock Knitting Mills was renamed Hanes Hoslery Mills Company in 1914 and the
building on South Marshall Street hecame the first Hanes Hoslery Mil}a~the first -
building used by the Hanes Hosiery Company, a modern texti}g empire, In 1915 the
mill employed 158 people and housed 212 knitting machines. Hanes converted to the
manufacture of ladies hosiery in 818, and the products were "offered in black, gray,
brown, navy, and bleached white."

By 1926 the Hanes Hoslery Company had nggrOWn its Marshall Street facility and it
moved to a larger plant on West 1l4th Street, The old _sawtooth building was bhought
by Caroldina Cadillac Company and used as a dealership,

The history of Hanes Hoslery Company is the story of leadership in a highly
competitive field. In 1918 Hanes Hosiery Mills Company converted from the manufacture
of infant's and men's socks to women's cotton hosiery. The development of rayon followed,
and Hanes led the industry in the production of women's rayon hosiery, Hane's most
dramatic growth, however, occurred after the appearance of nylen in the late 1930s; the
company developed a way to knit nylon on circular machines, thereby producing a seaTéess
stocking. Hanes seamless nylon hosiery was the first on the branded retail market,
From the old Shamrock Mills buillding on Marshall Street, Hanes has grown to become one
of the largest hosiery manufacturers in the world.

Footnotes

lSanborn Map Company, Winston-Salem, 1907, 1912; Brent D. Glass, North Carolina, An
Inventory of Historic Engineering and Industrial Sites (HAER and N, (. Division of
Archives and History, 1975), p. 46; Adelaide Fries, Stuart T. Wright, and J. Edwin
Hendricks, Forsyth, The History of a County on the March, Revised edition {Chapel Hill,
N. C.: The University of North Carolina Press, 1976), p. 233.

2Fries, Wright, Hendricks, Forsyth, p. 181; "Tobacco to Textiles, Hanes Corporation:
How It All Began,' Hanes Hosiery News, 1972, p. 5-6.

3Nannie May Tilley, The Bright-Tobacco Industry (Chapel Hill, N.C.: The University
of North Carolina Press, 1948), p. 638.

4WinstonmSalem City Pirectories, 1910, 1911.
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STwentwaifth Annual Report of the Department of Labor & Printing (E. M. Uzzell
and Company, Raleigh, N.C., 1911), p. 148, 152.

6Ruth Little-Stokes, An Inventory of Historic Architecture, Greensboro, N.C.
(N. €. Division of Archives and History, Raleigh, 1976), p. 6,

7Richard Candee to Gwynne 5, Taylor, March 3, 1977.

8Telephone interviews with Messrs. N. Pinkleton and Richard Sullivan, Cone Mills,
February 7, 1977; Robert M. Vogel to Gwynne S, Taylor, March 29, 1977 (sent copiles from
Providence Business Directories).

9Oswald W. Grube, Industrial Bulldings and Factoriles (Praeger Publishers, N.Y., 1971
p. 12.

10Robert M. Vogel to Gwynne 5. Taylor, March 29, 1977.

lllbid.

lzInterview with Mr. R. B. Crawford.

13Grube, Indugtrial Bulldings, p. 12,

14"Tobacco to Textiles, Hanes Corporation: How It All Began,'' Hanes Hosiery News,
1972, p. 5.

15Twenty—ninth Annual Report of the Department of Labor and Printing (Raleigh:
Edwards and Broughton Printing Company, 1915), p. 340, 344,

16
1958,

17Ibid.

"43 Eventful Years . . . Jim Weeks and Hanes Hoslery," Hanes Hoslery News, March,

18w1nston~8a1em City Directory, 1928.

l9"'1‘01);;1(:(*,0 to Textiles, Hanes Corporation: How It All Began,' Hanes Hosiery News,
1972, p. 5-6.
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Hanes Hosiery News. 1958, 1972,

Little-Stokes, Ruth. An TInventory of Historic Architecture, Greensboro, N.C. Raleigh:
Division of Archives and History, 1976.

Tilley, Nannie May. The Bright-Tobacco Industry, 1860-1929. Chapel Hill: The
University of North Carolina Press, 1948,

Tise, TLarry Edward. Bullding and Architecture. Vol 9, Winston-Salem in History.
Historic Winston, Winston-Salem, N.C., 1976,

Wellman, Manly Wade and Tise, Larry Edward. Industry and Commerce 1766~1896. Vol. 7.
Winston-Salem in History. Historic Winston, Winston-Salem, N.C., 1976.

Winston-Salem Journal., Winston-Salem, N.C. April 24, 1938. February 21, 1965,
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